INTRODUCTION

When real property located in California changes ownership, county |
assessors are required to reassess the Full Cash Value of the property by using the
acquisition cost valuation system mandated by Articles XIII and XIIIA of the
California Constitution. In most cases, the Full Cash Value of real property is the
price paid on the open market in an arms-length transaction. This very basic
concept is called the “purchase price presumption.” The “purchase price
presumption” flows from general Revenue and Taxation Code sections 51 and 110
which govern the valuation of all real property in California. :

The dispute at issue in this case arose when the Real Parties filed
Applications for Changed Assessment (“Applications”) appealing the value of 26
individual mobilehome property interests that sold in 2001. [Administrative
Record, Vol. 1, Tab 3, AAB000014, Tab 4, AAB000033, AAB000045 &
AAB000057.] The Applications challenged the “method of reassessment” and the
values enrolled by the Assessor. In short, the Real Parties argued that subsection
(c) of R & T Code section 62.1 required assessors to disregard the purchase prices
paid for the 26 properties and disregard most of the general R & T Code statutes
that govern how real property must be valued under Articles XIII and XIIIA of the
California Constitution.”

The Santa Barbara County Assessment Appeals Board (“Board”) agreed
with the Real Parties and proceeded to issue two Decisions which reduced the
taxable value of the Rancho Goleta properties to approximately 33% and the

Silver Sands properties to a mere 15% of their respective purchase prices. The

' Citations to the Administrative Record will be noted as “Admin. Record” and
citations to the Appellant’s Appendix will be noted as “Appendix.”

% (Citations to the Revenue and Taxation Code will be noted at “R & T Code.”



Board achieved this drastic reduction in value by refusing to apply the “purchase
price presumption” mandated by R & T Code sections 110 and 51 as well as
subsection (b)(6) of section 62.1 and section 480 which require every new owner
to promptly file a change of ownership statement that reports the actual purchase
price paid for a mobilehome property interest. '

To make matters worse, the Board’s skewed interpretation of R &T Code '
section 62.1 only applies to mobilehome properties held by non-profit mutual
benefit corporations. It does not apply to similar mobilehome properties held by
stock cooperatives or condominium associations thereby rendering the Decisions
palpably arbitrary because they essentially exempt one class of resident-owned
mobilehomes from full taxation. |

The Board’s Decisions should be reversed and remanded because they 1
abandon the acquisition cost valuation method and equal taxation principles
mandated by the California Constitution and repeal by implication general tax
statutes such as R & T Code sections 110 and 51 which require all property to be
assessed according to its fair market value as it is commonly bought and sold in
the marketplace. The Decisions should also be reversed because they force county
assessors to violate the specific mobilehome valuation guidelines published by the
State Board of Equalization (“SBE”), the agency that co-sponsored and analyzed

the statute at issue when it was enacted by the state Legislature.

II
STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Appellant/Assessor's Beneficial Interest

The Appellant/Assessor is "beneficially interested"” in the matter of a loss of
assessed value from its property tax base. Acting through its statutory ofﬁcer; the

Assessor, was required to, and did, "appear" before the Board at the underlying



hearing. (See, Gov. Code, § 24000, subd. (j) and R & T Code, § 1627 "[W]here a
party has a beneficial interest in the subject matter of the proceedings and -a right
to appear, and has appeared before the administrative agency he properly may

institute proceedings for review by mandamus.” County of Los Angeles v. Tax

Appeals Board No. 2 (1968) 267 Cal.App.2d 830, 834.)

B. Capacity of Real Parties in Interest

The Real Parties in Interest initiated this dispute by filing Applications for
Changed Assessment with the Clerk of the Board for the County of Santa Barbara:
[Administrative Record (“Admin. Record”) Vol. 1, Tab 1, AAB00001-6 & Tab 2,
AAB0007-12.]

C. Capacity of Respondent/Board

The Respondent/Board issﬁed Final Decisions on the Applications filed by
the Real Parties in Interest on October 17, 2006, after a formal adjudicatory
hearing. [Appellant’s Appendix (“Appendix”) 0009-0106.]

D. Procedural History

1. Relief Sought by Real Parties Before the Assessment Appeal Board

Representatives for the Rancho Goleta and Silver Sands parks filed
Applications for Changed Assessment challenging the valuation method and the
enrolled values for each of the 26 individual ownership interests sold in 2001. _
[Admin. Record, Vol. 1, Tab 3, AAB000014, Tab 4, AAB000033, AAB000045 &
AAB000057.] :

Because the Applications addressed the same basic issues, the Board

consolidated the Applications. The consolidated Applications were later bifurcated



into 2 phases. Phase 1 primarily addressed questions of law - the interpretation of
R & T Code Section 62.1 and identification of the proper assessment method.
Phase 2 focused on the valuation of the 26 transferred ownership interests using
the interpretation of R & T Code Section 62.1 and the assessment method dictated
by the Board in Phase 1. [Admin. Record, Vol. 18, Tab 254, AAB003625-
003627.] The Board issued final Decisions for Phase 1 and Phase 2 in favor of _1
the Real Parties on October 17, 2006. [Admin. Record Vol. 16, Tab 254,
AAB003621-3678 & AAB003680-3715.]

2. Relief Sought by Assessor in Superior Court

The Appellant/Assessor filed a Writ of Mandate in the Superior Court on
April 17, 2007, pursuant to Revenue and Taxation Code Section 1611. The Writ
sought reversal of the Decisions and remand for further proceedings consistent
with the California Constitution, Revenue and Taxation Code and Property Tax

Rules. [Appendix 0001-0119.]

3. Relief Sought by Assessor in the Court of Appeal

The Appellant/Assessor timely filed a Notice of Appeal on December 16,
2010. [Appendix, Vol. 4, Tab 52, 00966-00967.] |

The SBE and the California Assessors’ Association filed amicus
briefs in support of the Assessor in October 2011.

The Court of Appeal issued its first Opinion on May 16, 2012, The
Opinion was split with Justice Yegan dissenting. The Assessor filed a
Petition for Rehearing. The Court of Appeal issued an Order granting
rehearing on June 13, 2012.

b

The Court of Appeal issued an Opinion on Rehearing on August 30
2012. The Opinion was again split with Justice Yegan dissenting. The



Assessor filed a Second Petition for Rehearing on September 14, 2012. The
Court of Appeal denied the Second Petition for Rehearing on October 1,
2012.

4. Relief Sought by Assessor in the Supreme Court

The Appellant/Assessor timely filed a Petition for Review on October 8,
2012. The SBE and the California Assessors’ Association filed amicus
letters supporting the Petition. The Supreme Court granted the Petition for

Review on December 12, 2012.

E. Issues Presented

1. Primary Issue
What is the proper method for determining the assessed value of the
real property interest in a mobilehome park after a transfer of a

membership interest in the nonprofit corporation that owns the park?

2. Sub-Issues

a. Does R & T Code section 62.1 prohibit county assessors from
applying the acquisition cost valuation method and related general
Revenue and Taxation statutes when reassessing a change of
ownership of membership interest in a mobilehome park held by a
nonprofit corporation?

b. What was the Legislature’s intent when it amended R & T Code
section 62.1 in 19887

c. Does the valuation method adopted by the Board frustrate the
legislative intent of R & T Code section 62.1?



d. Do the Decisions improperly disregard the specific guidance
provided by the SBE regarding how to value changes in ownership
in resident-owned mobilehome parks?

e. Do the Decisions improperly disregard the Purchase Price
Presumption mandated by R & T Code section 110 and Property
Tax Rule 2?

f. Do the Decisions improperly disregard R & T Code section 51
which requires assessors to value the Appraisal Unit commonly
bought and sold in the marketplace?

g. Do the Decisions improperly rely on the income approach for
property contractually prohibited from earning income in violation
of in violation of Property Tax Rule 8?

h. Do the Decisions fail to value the properties as of the actual dates
the properties were sold as required by R & T Code section 75 and
75.10?

1. Do the Decisions improperly rely on non-comparable sales in
violation of Property Tax Rule 4?

J. Did the Assessor properly apply the general tax statutes governing
valuation when he reassessed the 26 properties that changed
ownership in 20017

k. Do the Decisions mischaracterize the resident-owners as renters?

. Does the renter fiction adopted in the Decisions jeopardize other -

important property tax benefits?

F. Standard of Review

This case of first impression presents mixed questions of law and fact
concerning the application of the Revenue and Taxation Code to the assessment of
resident-owned mobilehomes held by non-profit corporations. When, as in this

case, the inquiry requires a critical consideration, in a factual context, of legal

6



principles and their underlying values, the question is predominantly legal and its
determination is reviewed independently. (McMillin-BCED/Miramar Ranch North
v. County of San Diego (1995) 31 Cal. App. 4th 545, 554; 20th Century Ins. Co. v.
Garamendi (1994) 8 Cal. 4th 216, 271.)

1
STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Real Parties, Rancho Goleta and Silver Sands, are both resident-owned
mobilehome parks located in the unincorporated area of Santa Barbara County.
These parks were originally owned by investors who rented spaces to the tenants.
Although the tenants rented their spaces from the investor-owners, rent control
ordinances controlled the amount of rent the investor-owners could charge the
tenants. [Admin. Record, Vol. 1, Tab 7, APP000085, Ins. 2-9 & APP000087 Ins.
3-6].

The residents of Rancho Goleta and Silver Sands eventually formed non-
profit corporations to purchase their respective mobilehome parks from the
investor-owners. These non-profit corporations own fee title to all of the real
property in the mobilehome parks. [Admin Record, Vol. 1, Tab 11 APP000129-
0132.] It is undisputed that the Rancho Goleta and Silver Sands residents own
“memberships” in the corporations. These memberships are owned exclusively by
persons who own mobilehomes located in the parks. [Appendix, Vol. 1, Tab 6,
000177 Ins. 8- 11.]

Under subdivision (a) of section 62.1, when a mobilehome park is
purchased by a non-profit entity formed by the residents for the purpose of
purchasing the park, this initial transaction is exempted from reassessment. Real
Parties Rancho Goleta and Silver Sands took advantage of this one-time
exemption when they formed non-profit corporations to purchase their parks.

[Admin. Record, Vol. 6, Tab 91, APP001264.]



Several years later, in 2001, 26 resident-owners sold their individual
mobilehome interests to third parties. The purchase prices paid for these
properties ranged from a low of $165,000 to a high of $325,000 based on the
attributes (size, location, view) of each property. [Administrative Record (“Admin
Record”) Vol. 1, Tab 16 APP000174-000193 & Tab 24 APP000215-000222.]

The Assessor applied the “purchase price presumption” when he reassessed
the 26 properties in accord with Articles XXX1 and XIIIA, the general R & T
Code statutes and the specific mobilehome valuation guidelines established by the
SBE.’

Representatives for the Rancho Goleta and Silver Sands parks filed
Applications for Changed Assessment challenging the valuation method and the
enrolled values for each of the 26 individual ownership interests sold in 2001.
[Admin. Record, Vol. 1, Tab 3, AAB000014, Tab 4, AAB000033, AAB000045 &
AAB000057.} The Board ultimately ruled in favor of the Real Parties. [Admin. |
Record , Vol. 16, Tab 254, AAB003621-3678 & AAB003680-3715.]

IV
OVERVIEW OF HOW OF MOBILEHOMES
ARE TREATED FOR PROPERTY TAXATION PURPOSES

Before 1980, most mobilehome parks were owned by municipalities or
investors who rented spaces to low and moderate income residents, many of which
were subject to rent control. The tenants owned the mobilehome coaches and the
municipality or investor owned all the land. Taxation was straight forward for the

privately owned parks. The tenants paid tax on their mobilehome coaches based |

> The Assessor followed the SBE’s “extraction method” to determine the value of .
each ownership interest sold in 2001. Under the extraction method, the Blue Book
Value of the coach is subtracted or extracted from the total purchase price to
determine the site value of the real property. [Admin. Record ,Vol. 7, Tab 113,
ASSR0O01610-1615.]



on Kelley Blue Book values pursuant to R & T Code section 5803 and the investor
paid property tax on the Full Cash Value of the land and improvements pursuant to
the general property tax statutes. In response to increasing park rents, the closure
of some parks and the displacement of many low to moderate income residents,
the concept of resident-owned mobilehome parks developed in the mid-1980s.
Resident-owned mobilehomes are created when the residents form a homeowners
association to purchase a park and then convert it to a mobilehome subdivision,
condominium, stock co-operative or non-profit corporation.

Between 1984 and 1996, the California Legislature responded to this trend
by enacting or amending a number of laws to encourage resident ownership,
including a new loan program to assist homeowner associations and low-income
residents in purchasing their parks as well as various changes to the Subdivision
Map Act, exempting or simplifying conversions to resident ownership.

After aresident-owned entity buys the park, each respective resident
owner receives a certificate representing his or her fractional ownership |
interest. (R & T Code §§ 62.1(a)(1), 2188.10; Admin. Record, Vol. 7, Tab
113, ASSR001610-1611, Letter to Assessor (“LTA”) 99/87, Q & A-1.) This
fractional ownership interest in the park typically includes: (1) the outright
ownership of a particular mobilehome, and (2) the exclusive right to occupy
a particular space within the park. [Admin. Record, Vol. 7, Tab 113,
ASSR001611-1612, LTA 99/87, Q & A-2; R & T Code § 62.1(a)(1).] Upon
acquiring an ownership interest in the park, a resident also obtains the
exclusive right to sell his mobilehome interests, including the exclusive right
to occupy the mobilehome space. [Admin. Record, Vol. 34, Tab 278,
TX006966 Ins. 17-25; TX006944 Ins. 4-13 & TX006945 Ins. 20-25.]



The following chart illustrates the overall statutory scheme for the taxation

of investor and resident-owned mobilehome parks.

Investor-Owned Parks — Governed by R & T Code § 5803

Tenants - taxed on full cash value of mobilehome coach based on Kelley Blue Book
Investors -- taxed on full cash value of the real property.

l

51% of Residents Buy Mobilehome
Park from Investor and Form Stock
Cooperative, Non-Profit Corp. or
Condominium Association

Sale 1s excluded from
change of ownership
reassessment under

R & T Code § 62.1(a)

Y

y

Subsequent Sale of
Interest in Stock
Cooperative

Subsequent Sale of
Interest in Non-
Profit Corporation

Subsequent Sale of '
Interest in Co'ndo_

Association

/ Transfer of an \

interest in a stock
cooperative
constitutes a
change of
ownership as a
matter of law
pursuant to
R & T Code §

\ 61(i)

l

Loophole Allows
Transfer to Escape
Reassessment

!

l .

/ Transfer of any\

SB 1885 Amends R & T
Code § 62.1 to Close
Non-Profit Loophole

l

unit or lot in a
condominium
association is a
change in
ownership
because each unit -
is held in fee with -
a separate APN.
R&TCode §65.1 .

N J

Transfer of a Membership Interest in Non-Profit Corporation
is now considered a change in ownership of a
pro rata portion of the Real Property pursuant to
R & T Code § 62.1(c) as amended in 1988

10



A. Section 62.1 is a Change of Ownership Statute That Tells Assessors What
and When to Reassess - It Does Not Override the California Constitution

or the General Tax Statues that Control How Property is Valued

The parties disagree regarding what R & T Code section 62.1 does and
does not do. The Assessor contends it does four basic things:

> Subsections (a) and (b) provide an exclusion from reassessment
when 51 % of the residents purchase the park;

> Subsection (c¢) (1) directs assessors to treat subsequent transfers of .
membership interests in non-profit corporation as reassessable
change of ownership of a pro rata portion of the real property;

» Subsection (c) (2) describes what a “pro rata portion of the real
property” means; and

> Subsection (c) (3) provides that any pro rata portion or portions of
real property which changed ownership pursuant to this subdivision
may be separately assessed as provided in R & T Code Section

2188.10, a new companion statute enacted as part of SB 1885.

In short, 62.1 is a change of ownership statute that describes which
mobilehome transfers are excluded from reassessment and which transfers are
subject to reassessment. The Real Parties contend 62.1 goes much further. The
Real Parties claim 62.1 also dictates ~ow the properties should be valued.

The placement of section 62.1 within the R & T Code provides some
guidance on this issue. Section 62.1 is found in Chapter 2 of Part 0.5 in Division 1
of the R & T Code. Chapter 2 is entitled Change in Ownership and Purchase and
includes 18 sections (§§ 60- 69.5). These 18 sections, including section 62.1, all -

define what does and does not constitute a change in ownership for property tax '-

11



purposes under Articles XIII and XIIIA of the California Constitution.* None of.
the sections contained in Chapter 2 address how to value or assess property. | |
Valuation is addressed in other chapters of the R & T Code including Chapter 1 of
Part 1 entitled General Provisions (§§ 101 — 136) and Chapter 3of Part 2 entitled
Assessment Generally (§§ 401 -674).

As addressed in more detail below, other sections of the R & T Code as B
well as Property Tax Rule 2, 4, 6 and 8§, Assessor Handbooks and Letters to |
Assessors issued by the State Board of Equalization dictate how real property
should be valued. [Admin Record, Vol. 23, Tab 262, TX004560 (Schreiter
Testimony) and Vol. 8, Tab 125.1, AAB001754-1758 (Cazadd Declaration).]

B. Subdivision (a) of R & T Code § 62.1 Provides a One-Time Exclusion
From Reassessment When the Residents Buy the Park

Subdivision (a) of section 62.1 excludes the initial conversion of a
mobilehome park from a change of ownership. Under subsection (a) when a
mobilehome park is purchased by a non-profit entity formed by at least 51% of the
residents for the purpose of purchasing the park — this initial transaction does not
result in reassessment of the property. Real Parties Rancho Goleta and Silver
Sands took advantage of this one-time exclusion when they formed non-profit
corporations to purchase their parks. [Admin. Record, Vol. 6, Tab 91,
APP001264.]

"
1"
"

' Article XIIIA is commonly known as Prop 13.

12



C. SB 1885 Amended R & T Code § 62.1 in 1988 to Close a Loophole

That Let Some Subsequent Transfers Escape Reassessment

R & T Code section 62.1 has been amended eight times since it was
enacted in 1984. The primary issue in this case starts with the interpretation of the
1988 amendment to section 62.1 — an amendment intended to close two loopholes.

The first loophole related to subdivision (a) which inadvertently created a
situation where an investor could purchase an entire mobilehome park and avoid
reassessment by simply renting one vacant unit for a brief time. The second
loophole (the one at issue in this case) allowed some, but not all, resident-owners
to escape a change of ownership reassessment when they later sold their individual
real property interests to third parties. The only property owners enjoying the
second loophole were people who owned membership interests in resident-owned
mobilehomes held by non-profit corporations. The SBE described the second

loophole during Senate hearings on the 1988 amendment as follows:

“Putting a park into a nonprofit mutual benefit
corporation ownership could mean that no part of
the park would ever be reappraised again, since
transfers of individual interests in a nonprofit
corporation do not trigger reappraisal. This would
give [some] mobilehome parks much more
favorable treatment than the average homeowner.”

[Admin Record, Vol. 6, Tab 92, APP001274-1275
3/24/88, SBE Legislative Bill Analysis.]

This second loophole was particularly problematic because it granted
more favorable tax treatment to some but not all resident-owned mobilehomes. _v
Mobilehomes held by non-profit corporations were escaping reassessment but

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