IN THE SUPREME COURT

OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

ASSESSOR FOR COUNTY OF SANTA BARBARA

Petitioner and Appellant

SUPREME COURT
FILED

VS.

MAR 1 3 2013

ASSESSMENT APPEALS BOARD NO. 1

Respondent

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

RANCHO GOLETA LAKESIDE MOBILEERS, INC. and SILVER SANDS VILLAGE, INC.

Real Parties in Interest and Respondents

Review Granted from Decision of the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Six – Case No. B229656

Appeal from the Superior Court of Santa Barbara County The Honorable James W. Brown – Case No. 01244457

RESPONDENTS' JOINT ANSWER BRIEF

SANTA BARBARA COUNTY COUNSEL
DENNIS A. MARSHALL (SBN 116347), County Counsel

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

RG, Inc. and SSV, Inc. collect rent from the tenants (members and nonmembers alike) and use such rent monies to pay the costs of operating their mobilehome parks, just as all other landlords of rental mobilehome parks do. Failure to pay rent subjects the tenant, member or nonmember, to eviction.

The Assessor also asserts that since members have the right to sell their mobilehomes in place, this somehow proves that the members own their spaces. (Opening Brief, p. 36.) As evidence, the Assessor refers to MLS Listings (AR-v11-t174-p002355-2367), arguing that the "FMV of each space varies based on the size, location and specific attributes of each property." (Opening Brief, p. 36.)

invalid since the rest of Section 62.1 is a "catch-up" provision stemming from the initial exemption from reassessment.

(The AAB notes that it has and had no jurisdiction to consider the question in this footnote, and such issue was never argued or considered in the AAB proceedings.) The MLS Listings in evidence listed mobilehomes <u>in numerous</u> rental mobilehome parks. In all of the listings, the mobilehome is forsale <u>in place</u>, but mobilehome spaces were not for sale. (AR-v11-t174-p002355-2367.)

Nothing in the MLS Listings supports the Assessors' assertions that members of RG, Inc./SSV, Inc. own a mobilehome space.

The MLS Listings include listings for mobilehomes that were for sale in (a) the SSV Park and two investor-owned rental mobilehome parks (Rancho Granada, Sandpiper), in Carpinteria, and (b) the RG Park and two investor-owned rental mobilehome parks (San Vicente, Rancho Santa Barbara) west of the City of Santa Barbara.

In all six of these rental parks, the buyer of the listed mobilehome was entitled to lease the space on which the mobilehome was located when purchasing the mobilehome.

A quick perusal of the MLS Listings discloses the visual similarity and similar size of the mobilehomes in the parks and of the prices in each geographic area -- even though the price listed for a mobilehome in the SSV Park and RG Park also included the purchase price of a membership in SSV, Inc. and RG, Inc., respectively. (AR-v11-t174-p002355-2367. See also AR-v1-t29-p000286-000321; AR-v3-t35.5-35.6-p000705-000706.)

The Assessor's Opening Brief, at p. 36-37, then quotes *Penner v. County of Santa Barbara* (1995) 37 Cal.App.4th 1672, 1679, and argues that *Penner* supports the Assessor's "renter fiction" argument.

The Assessor asserts, without explanation, that there have been step transactions in this matter.

The claim is false. The *Penner* decision actually supports Respondents because it makes clear that the form of a transaction, *if* associated with substance in the relationships involved, can and does make a great difference in property tax results.

In *Penner*, the Court of Appeal noted that there is a significant difference between owning a direct, on-title percentage interest in real property and owning a percentage interest in a limited liability entity that owns the real property. (Id. at 1679-1680.)

Respondents note that a similar distinction was expressly discussed in the legislative history of Section 62.1(c) and is inherent in the AAB's factual findings.

The step-transaction doctrine is altogether inapplicable.

Under the step-transaction doctrine, if a taxpayer "interjects economically or legally meaningless transactions between the starting point and the end to obtain more favorable tax treatment, then the intervening transactions will be disregarded." (Id. at 1679 (emphasis added).)

But there are no "economically or legally meaningless transactions between the starting point and the end" that were "interjected" by RG, Inc. or SSV, Inc. or anyone else "to obtain more favorable tax treatment." RG, Inc. and SSV, Inc. own and operate rental mobilehome parks and their member-tenants lease their spaces and pay rent, as do nonmember-tenants. The Real Parties should be taxed in accordance with assessments that comply with Section 62.1(c).

Finally, the Assessor asserts that *Health and Safety Code* §50781(m) is "instructive" as to whether members of RG, Inc. and SSV, Inc. own their spaces. (Opening Brief, pp. 37-38.) This statute

is a definition for purposes of the "Mobilehome Park Purchase Fund" only. Neither RG, Inc. nor SSV, Inc. sought or obtained a loan under this state program. Section 62.1(c) does not cross-reference such definition. Thus, the Assessor's suggestion that a definition in a loan program is somehow relevant to this matter is without merit.

D. The Parties' Factual Disagreements are Rooted in LTA 99/87.

The wide divergence between the parties on fundamental factual issues has led to endless debates on every subject.

The factual dispute is whether the members of RG, Inc. and SSV, Inc. own or lease mobilehome spaces.

The source of the disagreement is LTA 99/87, which the Assessor feels compelled to follow.

A <u>very elastic and self-serving</u> vocabulary is used in LTA 99/87 to describe what transfers when a share or membership transfers:

- 1. Transfer of the share (membership) is *initially characterized as* a transfer of "a fractional interest in the corporation" (AR-v1-t12-p00135);
- 2. Transfer of the share (membership) then morphs into a transfer of "outright ownership of a particular mobilehome" and "the exclusive right to occupy a particular space in the park" (AR-v1-t12-p00136); ²⁴

The extent to which the SBE attempts in LTA 99/87 to bend real-world facts to its views is evident in the statement that transfer of a share in corporation transfers "outright ownership of a particular

3. Transfer of the share (membership) *later morphs into* a transfer of "exclusive ownership of the individual underlying space" (AR-v1-t12-p00137).

Such "morphed" factual *assumptions* are critical to the SBE's interpretation of Section 62.1(c) in LTA 99/87. Since the "morphed" factual assumptions in #2 and #3, above, are false, the analysis in LTA 99/87 based on such assumptions is flawed, to say the least. Specifically, LTA 99/87 states:

"With this backdrop in mind, if the reported purchase price was negotiated in the open market at arm's length, then it is our view that the entire amount should be reflected in the combined assessments of the mobilehome and the underlying interest in the park." (AR-v1-t12-p000136; emphasis added.)

"Assuming that the reported purchase price represents the collective fair market value of the mobilehome and the underlying interests in the park, ... [t]he most reasonable way of allocating value ...would be to extract from the reported purchase price the value of the mobilehome itself, using the [NADA Guide]... and then (2) assign the remainder of the purchase price to the interest in the park." (AR-v1-t12-p000136.)

"For transfers of shares or other ownership interests that represent ownership of individual spaces in mobilehome parks, it is clear that what persons in the marketplace commonly buy and sell is not the entire park, but rather the fractional interests

mobilehome." The statement is completely in error, and directly conflicts with the certificate of title and registration requirements for mobilehomes that are administered by HCD and DMV.

conveyed by the individual interests. Thus,... the appraisal unit is the individual mobilehome space and the mobilehome." (AR-v1-t12-p000137.)

"Question: Can any portion of the purchase price be attributed to non-assessable 'site value,' as provided under section 5803(b)? "Answer: No. The ownership of a fractional interest in the park represents exclusive ownership of the individual underlying space. Thus, while a resident may formally lease his or her space from the owning entity, in substance the ownership of the space is with the individual resident. Since the owner of the mobilehome and the owner of the underlying space are one and the same for all practical purposes, ...Section 5803(b) does not apply." (AR-v1-t12-p000137; question 7 & answer.)

None of the factual assumptions in LTA 99/87 apply to (or are true of) the memberships in RG, Inc. or SSV, Inc., or to the RG Park or the SSV Park – or to other similar mobilehome parks owned by other corporations whose members are a majority of tenants. It is ironic that LTA 99/87 proposes to use the NADA Guide to value mobilehomes, a procedure applicable to mobilehomes located on rented or leased lands.

E. The AAB Committed No Error in Declining to Follow the Mistaken, Advisory-Only LTA 99/87

The Assessor's contentions concerning LTA 99/87 and its offspring, portions of Assessor's Handbook Section 511, are premised on the Assessor's belief that LTA 99/87 is correct. In view of the errors in LTA 99/87, however, the AAB properly declined to follow both LTA 99/87 and portions of Handbook Section 511.

LTAs (and the Assessor's Handbook) are merely advisory. (ARv8-t125.1-p001760.) The question is what, if any, deference is due to LTA 99/87 and those portions of Handbook Section 511 based on it.

The Assessor states that deference should be shown by this Court to LTA 99/87. (Opening Brief, pp. 28-33.)

The Assessor is wrong.

This Court has held that the deference to an agency's interpretation depends on the circumstances and the weight to be given to the agency's determination is "fundamentally situational." *Yamaha Corp. of America, supra,* 19 Cal. 4th at 12.

As stated in *Yamaha*:

"Considered alone and apart from the context and circumstances that produce them, agency interpretations are not binding or necessarily even authoritative.... The standard for judicial review of agency interpretation of law is the *independent judgment* of the court, giving *deference* to the determination of the agency *appropriate* to the circumstances." ...

"A court assessing the value of an interpretation must consider complex factors material to the substantive legal issue before it, the particular agency offering the interpretation, and the comparative weight the factors ought in reason to command. ... two broad categories of factors relevant to a court's assessment of the weight due an agency's interpretation: Those 'indicating that the agency has a comparative advantage over the courts,' and those 'indicating that the interpretation in question in probably correct.'

"In the first category,... A court is more likely to defer to an agency's interpretation of its own regulation than to its interpretation of a statute,... The second group of factors... those

suggesting the agency's interpretation is likely to be correct includes... evidence that the agency 'has consistently maintained the interpretation in question, especially if [it] is long-standing'..., and indications that the agency's interpretation was contemporaneous with legislative enactment of the statue being interpreted.... The deference due an agency's interpretation... will depend upon the thoroughness evident in its consideration, the validity of its reasoning, its consistency with earlier and later pronouncements, and those factors which give it power to persuade...." (Id. at 8, 12-15.)

Under the *Yamaha* standards, <u>Respondents submit that LTA</u> 99/87 and its progeny are not entitled to any deference or weight, and that the AAB properly gave it no deference or weight in its Decision.

The SBE's rationale in LTA 99/87 is contradicted by the plain meaning of Section 62.1(c), by the SBE's own Legislative Bill Analyses (prepared by SBE staff during the legislative process), and by LTA 89/13 (issued by the SBE when the statute was newly-enacted).

The credibility of LTA 99/87 is also further undermined by the completely inaccurate statement that the transfer of a membership effectively accomplishes the transfer of a mobilehome.

Thus, the AAB and the Court of Appeal properly rejected the Assessor's arguments concerning LTA 99/87 and those portions of Assessor's Handbook Section 511 which are based on LTA 99/87.

Respondents submit that deference from the courts in this case is appropriate only for the SBE's statements in LTA 89/13 and to the AAB concerning its factual findings .

Deference is due to LTA 89/13 because it meets the criteria in *Yamaha*. Not surprisingly, LTA 89/13 conflicts with LTA 99/87.

And deference of a different sort is due to the AAB with respect to its factual findings and is inherent in the standard of review. ²⁵ A strong presumption of correctness attaches to a board's factual findings. See also *Fukada v. City of Angels* (1999) 20 Cal.4th 805, 824 [trial court erred in "failing to accord a presumption of correctness to the administrative findings"].

In the Opening Brief, the Assessor did not (and at no time in this case did the Assessor ever) demonstrate that the AAB's factual findings are not supported by substantial evidence in light of the whole record. Instead, the Assessor simply disagrees with the AAB's factual findings by asserting its factual contentions (based on LTA 99/87).

The AAB devoted an enormous amount of time, including three weeks of full-day hearings to witness testimony and the examination of voluminous documentary evidence, in order to ascertain the facts of this case and make its factual findings.

The members of the AAB were: (1) an experienced certified public accountant, (2) an attorney who had litigated cases involving landlord-tenant issues in mobilehome parks, and (3) a tenured University of California, Santa Barbara professor of history whose specialty is economic history.

The AAB set forth its factual findings in detail, and the AAB Decision was unanimous. Applying the proper standard of review for the AAB's factual findings, the trial court and the Court of Appeal majority ruled that substantial evidence supports the findings.

As discussed above, in applying the substantial evidence test, the courts indulge all presumptions and resolve all conflicts in favor of a board's decision.

F. The Assessor's Contentions Concerning Appraisals are Without Merit.

1. The AAB's Income Approach Analysis was Proper.

The Assessor acknowledges that the income approach under Property Tax Rule 8 is appropriate when a real property has an established income stream. (Opening Brief, p. 34.)

But the Assessor then argues that it was improper to use the income approach to value the RG Park and SSV Park because tenants of spaces in the RG Park and SSV Park are prohibited from subleasing their mobilehome spaces and "the income approach cannot ... be used to value properties contractually prohibited from earning income." (Opening Brief, p. 34-35.)

Again, this argument is based on the Assessor's contention that the members own, rather than lease, their spaces.

(The Assessor's argument is internally-inconsistent since the Assessor incorporates a prohibition on subletting, set forth in the *mobilehome space leases*, into the argument)

In fact, RG, Inc. and SSV, Inc., as property owners/landlords operating rental mobilehome parks, do receive rental income and pay park operating expenses. The Real Parties' appraiser used fair market rent and actual expenses of operating the mobilehome parks to calculate net operating income as part of the income approach analysis.

Because the two parks are rental parks and the proper appraisal unit was the entire mobilehome park, the income approach was properly applied by the AAB in its Decision.

2. The AAB's Comparative Sales Approach Does Not Violate Property Tax Rule 4.

The Assessor argues that the Real Parties' expert appraisal reports, on which the AAB based its valuations, violated Property Tax Rule 4 (comparative sales approach). (Opening Brief, pp. 39-40.) The premise for this argument (again) is the Assessor's beliefs that the members own their spaces and concerning the proper appraisal unit.

Because the parks are rental mobilehome parks and the proper appraisal unit was the mobilehome park as a whole, the comparative sales approach (based on looking at data from the sale of other mobilehome parks) was properly considered.

3. The Appraisal Values Apply for Every Date of Change of Ownership in 2001.

In its Opening Brief, at pp. 38-39, the Assessor objects that the Real Parties' appraisal reports for the RG Park and SSV Park did not list as specific appraisal dates those dates in 2001 on which memberships in RG, Inc. and SSV, Inc. transferred – and instead used date ranges that included all of such specific membership transfer dates.

The Assessor cites Sections 75 and 75.10, asserting that the use of a range of dates in such appraisal reports renders the appraisal reports incompetent.

While Sections 75 and 75.10 require that property shall be assessed as of the date of change of ownership, these statutes do not prohibit use of an appraisal report with a range of dates that includes the specific change of ownership dates. Thus, the appraisal reports in evidence do not conflict with Sections 75 and 75.10.

Indeed, the AAB had no problem understanding or making use of the appraisal reports or Mr. Taylor's testimony – since the value of the parks was stable through the defined date ranges.

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